



The Investment and Export Promotion Act (2024)

Note

The Investment Laws Navigator is based upon sources believed to be accurate and reliable and is intended to be up-to-date at the time it was generated. It is made available with the understanding that UNCTAD is not engaged in rendering legal or other professional services. To confirm that the information has not been affected or changed by recent developments, traditional legal research techniques should be used, including checking primary sources where appropriate. While every effort is made to ensure the accuracy and completeness of its content, UNCTAD assumes no responsibility for eventual errors or omissions in the data.

The year indicated in brackets after the title of the law refers to the year of publication in the Official Gazette or, when this is not available, the year of adoption of the law.

Contents

Part I—Preliminary Part II—the Malawi Investment and Trade centre Part III—Administration Part IV—One Stop Service shop Part V—National Incentives Committee Part VI—Financial Provisions Part VII—Investment Certificate Part VIII—Investment Certificate Part VIII—Exporter registration Certificate Part IX—Incentives Part X—Services Part XI—Appeals Part XII—Miscellaneous

The Investment and Export Promotion Act

(Published 2nd February 2024) Act No. 6 of 2024 I assent Section Dr. Lazarus Mccarthy chakwera President 31st January, 2024 Arrangement of Sections Part I Preliminary 1. Short title 2. Interpretation Part II the Malawi Investment and Trade centre 3. Establishment of the Malawi Investment and trade centre 4. Functions of the centre 5. Powers of the centre 6. Composition of the centre 7. Tenure of office 8. Vacancies 9. Meetings of the centre 10. Committees of the centre 11. Allowances of the members of the centre 12. Disclosure of interest Part III Administration 13. Secretariat of the centre 14. Director General 15. Other employees Part IV One Stop Service shop 16. One-stop service shop Section Part V National Incentives committee 17. National Incentives committee 18. Procedure and reporting of national Incentives committee Part VI Financial Provisions 19. Funds and property of the centre 20. Levy 21. Accounting and audit

Part VII Investment Certificate

- 22. Investment certificates
- 23. Application for, and issuance of, investment certificates
- 24. Criteria for issuance of investment certificates
- 25. Renewal of investment certificates
- 26. Transfer of investment certificate
- 27. Revocation of investment certificate
- 28. Notification of abandonment of an investment certificate

Part VIII Exporter Registration Certificate

- 29. Exporter registration certificate
- 30. Renewal of exporter registration certificate
- 31. Suspension or revocation of exporter registration certificate

Part IX Incentives

- 32. Fiscal incentives
- 33. Income tax allowance
- 34. Duty drawback
- Part X Services
- 35. strategic areas for investment and exports
- 36. One-stop service for relevant permits, licences, etc
- 37. Land for investment
- 38. Immigration
- 39. utilities and other services and facilities
- Part XI Appeals
- 40. Appeals
- 41. Procedure and expenses of appeals panels
- Part XII Miscellaneous
- 42. Non-application of the act to certain products, etc.

Section

- 43. Register of licences, permits, certificates, etc.
- 44. Records to be kept
- 45. Amendment of certificate, permit, etc.
- 46. Annual reports
- 47. Common seal
- 48. Oath of secrecy
- 49. Confidentiality
- 50. Protection from personal liability
- 51. General penalty
- 52. Regulations, rules, etc.
- 53. Repeal and savings

54. Cessation of Malawi Investment and trade centre Limited and transfer of rights and obligations An Act to provide for the promotion of investment and exports in Malawi; the establishment of the Malawi Investment and Trade Centre; the establishment of the One-Stop Service Shop; the establishment of the National Incentives Committee; the repeal of the Investment Promotion Act, the Export Promotion Council Act and the Export Incentives Act; and to provide for matters incidental thereto enacted by the Parliament of Malawi as follows—

Part I—Preliminary

Short Title

1. this act may be cited as the Investment and export Promotion act, 2024.

Interpretation

2. In this act, unless the context otherwise requires— "Centre" means the Malawi Investment and trade centre

established under section 3;

"Chairperson" means the chairperson of the centre appointed under section 6 (2);

- "Director General" means the Director General of the centre appointed under section 14;
- "Domestic investment" means an investment made by a domestic investor;

"Domestic investor" means an investor who is-

(a) A natural person who is a citizen, or a permanent resident, of Malawi;

(b) A partnership or association in which the controlling interest is owned by a person who is a citizen or permanent resident, or jointly owned by persons who are, citizens or permanent residents, of Malawi;
(c) A legal person incorporated under the laws of Malawi in which—

(i) more then fifty nor east of charge are hold by norgane who are citizane or normanent residents of

(i) more than inty per cent of shares are held by persons who are cluzens or permanent residents of Malawi; or

(ii) fifty per cent or more of the voting rights are held by persons who are citizens or permanent residents of Malawi;

"Exporter registration certificate" means a certificate issued by the centre pursuant to section 29;

"Foreign investment" means investment made by a foreign investor;

"Foreign investor" means an investor who is not a domestic investor;

"Investment" means a domestic investment or a foreign investment but excludes a portfolio investment; "investment certificate" means a certificate issued by the centre pursuant to section 22;

"investor" includes an existing and potential investor but excludes an investor on a securities market; "Portfolio investment" means an investment in shares or other securities traded on any securities and money market;

"Public body" has the meaning as ascribed to that term under the Public Finance Management act (no.4 of 2022)

; and

"Strategic area" means a strategic area for investment or export as prescribed under section 35.

Part II—the Malawi Investment and Trade

centre

Establishment of the Malawi Investment and Trade Centre

3. There is hereby established a body to be known as the Malawi Investment and trade centre which shall—

(a) be a body corporate by that name, having perpetual succession and a common seal; and

(b) subject to the provisions of this act, be capable of doing or performing all such acts or things as bodies corporate may by law do or perform.

Functions of the centre

4. —(1) The centre shall promote and facilitate investment and exports in Malawi.

(2) Without derogation from the generality of subsection (1), the functions of the centre shall be to-

(a) register investors and exporters;

(b) issue-

(i) investment certificates to registered investors; and

(ii) export certificates to registered exporters;

(c) assist investors and exporters in obtaining licences, permits, approvals, incentives or exemptions under relevant written laws;

(d) provide information on investment opportunities and export markets;

(e) promote Malawi as an international destination for investment and as a source of reliable and quality goods and services;

(f) advise Government on investment and export policy, incentives, strategies for investment, export, economic growth and development, industrial planning and image building of the country;

(g) subject to the Land act (cap 57:01) —

(i) acquire any land or landed property required for its functions under this act;

(ii) facilitate the allocation of land to investors registered under this act; and

(iii) facilitate the development and servicing of, and manage, investment sites, industrial parks, estates, land and associated facilities;

(h) promote and facilitate the development and diversification of investments, exports and business activities;

(i) formulate investment and export promotion plans, promotional incentives and marketing strategies to attract foreign and domestic investments in selected sectors;

(j) co-ordinate and monitor investment and export promotion activities;

(k) provide technical assistance in product development to local entrepreneurs, local exporters and local business enterprises;

(I) co-operate with relevant institutions on matters relating to export financing, export incentives and specialised services to exporters; and

(m) do all such acts and things as are necessary, incidental, or conducive, to the better carrying out of its functions under the act.

Powers of the centre

5. The centre may, in the discharge of its functions, have power to-

(a) invest in any activity which would facilitate the development and promotion of exports;

(b) solicit funds from sources other than its budgetary allocation or generate its own funds and invest all or any of such funds for purposes of investment and trade promotion;

(c) appoint agents within the country and in any other country to carry out functions on behalf of the

centre, as it may consider necessary, and prescribe terms of reference and performance targets of the agents in relation to promotion and facilitation of investment and exports;

(d) deal with queries and complaints by, or on behalf of, investors and exporters against public officers or public bodies in relation to matters submitted to the public officers or public bodies by, or on behalf of, the investors or exporters;

(e) monitor and evaluate activities, performance and development of investment and business enterprises and prescribe and enforce appropriate measures in line with applicable laws;

(f) inquire into any decision of a public officer or public body on any matter submitted by, or on behalf of, an investor or exporter to the public officer or public body and, where the centre is not satisfied with the decision, to make representations to the public officer or public body or to the responsible Minister, on behalf of the affected investor or exporter; and

(g) do all such things as the centre considers necessary for achieving its objects and performing its functions under this act.

Composition of the Centre

6. --(1) The centre shall consist of---

(a) the following members appointed by the Minister-

(i) one person from an association of manufacturers;

(ii) one person from an association of exporters;

(iii) one economist who is a member of an association of economists;

(iv) one banker who is a member of an association of bankers; and

(v) one marketer who is a member of an association of marketers; and

(b) the following ex-officio members-

(i) the secretary responsible for trade or his or her designated representative;

(ii) the secretary to the treasury, or his or her designated representative;

(iii) the secretary responsible for lands or his or her designated representative; and

(iv) the secretary responsible for foreign affairs or his or her designated representative.

(2) The Minister shall-

(a) before making an appointment under subsection (1)(a), invite the relevant association to nominate two individuals, out of whom the Minister shall appoint one individual; and

(b) appoint the chairperson of the centre from among the members appointed under subsection (1) (a).

(3) The appointment of members of the centre under subsection

(1) (a) shall comply with the provisions of the Gender equality act (no.4 of 2022).

(4) A person, other than an ex-officio member, shall not be qualified for appointment as a member of the centre, if that person—

(a) is a holder of a political office;

(b) is an undischarged bankrupt; and

(c) would, for any other reason, be disqualified by law from serving as a trustee or director of a company.

(5) The Minister shall publish, in the Gazette, the names of members of the centre as first constituted and every subsequent change in of membership.

(6) The centre may, at its discretion, co-opt any person with specific knowledge, or expertise as a member for any length of time, and such person shall attend meetings of the centre and take part in the deliberations, but shall not be entitled to vote on any matter.

(7) A member of the centre shall not—

(a) be in the employment of the centre nor serve the centre on a full-time basis; and

(b) by reason only of the appointment as a member of the centre, be deemed to be employed in a public office.

Tenure of Office

7. a member, other than an ex-officio member, shall hold office for a term of three years and shall be eligible for re-appointment for one further term of three years.

Vacancies

8. --(1) The office of a member appointed under section 6 (1) (a) shall become vacant--

(a) on the expiry of the term of office of the member;

(b) if the member resigns, in accordance with subsection (2);

(c) upon death of the member;

(d) if the member is absent, without a valid excuse, from three consecutive meetings of the centre of which he or she has had notice;

(e) if the member is declared bankrupt;

(f) if the member is convicted of an offence under any written law and sentenced to a term of imprisonment without the option of paying a fine;

(g) if the member is adjudged to be mentally or physically incapacitated and that due to the incapacitation, the member is not able to discharge his or her duties as a member of the control

וווינסאמטומווטוו, נוופ ווופוווטפו זו ווטג מטוב נט עופטוומועב ווופ טו וופו טענופס מס מ ווופוווטפו טו נווב טבוונופ,

(h) if the member is directly or indirectly involved in an activity which is in contravention of this act;

(i) upon the member being removed from office in accordance with subsection (3); and

(j) if a situation arises that if the member had not been appointed, the member would have been disgualified from appointment as a member of the centre.

(2) A member of the centre, other than an ex-officio member, may at any time resign from his or her office, by giving thirty day's written notice to the chairperson.

(3) The Minister may remove from office any member of the centre, other than an ex-officio member, on any of the following grounds-

(a) incompetence in the execution of the functions of the office of member;

(b) failure to declare a conflict of interest relating to any matter under consideration by the centre;

(c) disclosure or publication to any other person, other than in the course of duty, any confidential information of the centre obtained in the course of duty or otherwise;

(d) misconduct that brings the centre into disrepute; or

(e) being compromised to the extent that his or her ability to impartially and effectively exercise the duties of his or her office is seriously in question.

(4) A vacancy in the membership of the centre shall be filled by the appointment of a new member by the Minister in accordance with section 6(1)(a).

(5) A person appointed to fill a vacancy under subsection (4) shall serve the remainder of the term of office, but no person shall be appointed to fill a vacancy where the remainder of the term is less than six months.

(6) The period served by a person appointed under subsection (4) shall not be regarded as a term for purposes of section 7, unless the period is two years or more.

Meetings of the Centre

9. -(1) The centre shall hold its ordinary meetings at least once every three months, at such places and times as the chairperson may, after consulting with the Director General, determine.

(2) The chairperson shall convene ordinary meetings of the centre by giving members at least seven davs written notice.

(3) The chairperson may, on his own motion, convene an extraordinary meeting of the centre at a place and time as the chairperson may determine after consulting the Director General.

(4) The chairperson shall, after consulting the Director General, convene an extraordinary meeting of the centre within three days of receipt of a request, in writing, signed by not less than four members specifying the purpose for which the meeting is to be convened.

(5) A guorum at every meeting of the centre shall be constituted by five members.

(6) The chairperson shall preside over meetings of the centre, and in the absence of the chairperson, the members present and forming a quorum shall elect one of their number to preside over the meetina.

(7) A decision of the centre on any question shall be by consensus but where this is not possible, the decision shall be determined by a majority vote of members present and voting, and where there is an equality of votes, the chairperson or, in the absence of the chairperson, the member presiding, shall have a casting vote in addition to that person's deliberative vote.

(8) The centre may, where necessary and taking into account the nature of the matter to be deliberated. invite any person to attend its meeting and participate in the deliberations or to make a presentation or to be asked questions on any matter, but the person so invited shall have no right to vote.

(9) The Director General shall serve as secretary at meetings of the centre, and shall record and keep minutes of each meeting of the centre and the minutes shall be confirmed at the subsequent meeting. (10) The centre may make rules to regulate its proceedings and business or the proceedings and business of any of its committees.

(11) The Director General, or other employee of the centre as the Director General may designate, may attend a meeting of the centre and of any of its committees and may address the meeting, but shall not vote on any matter.

(12) Where, at any meeting, the deliberations of the centre or any of its committees concerns the Director General or any other employee of the centre designated to attend the meeting, the centre or the committee, as the case may be, may exclude the Director General or the officer from the meeting. **Committees of the Centre**

10. —(1) The centre may, for the purpose of performing its functions under this act, establish committees of the centre, and delegate to any such committees any of its functions as it considers necessary.

(2) The centre shall appoint a chairperson for each committee established under subsection (1) from amongst the members appointed under section 6 (1) (a).

(3) The Director General shall serve as secretary of committees of the centre or may, with the approval of the chairperson, delegate senior employee of the centre to serve as secretaries to the committees.

Allowances of the Members of the Centre

11. —(1) Members of the centre and its committees shall be paid from the funds of the centre such allowances and honoraria as the Minister shall determine, from time to time, after consulting the Government department responsible for human resource management and development.

(2) The centre may reimburse any reasonable expenses incurred in connection with the business of the centre by a member of the centre, a member of a committee of the centre and a person invited to attend a meeting of the centre under section 9(8).

Disclosure of Interest

12. —(1) Where a member of the centre or committee of the centre is present at any meeting of the centre or of any of its committees, at which any matter for which that member or a member of his or her immediate family is directly or indirectly interested in a private capacity is the subject of consideration, he or she shall, as soon as practicable, soon after the commencement of the meeting, disclose the interest and shall not, unless the centre otherwise directs, take part in any consideration or discussion of, or vote on, any question touching that matter.

(2) A disclosure of interest made under subsection (1) shall be recorded in the minutes of the meeting at which it is made.

Part III—Administration

Secretariat of the Centre

13. The secretariat of the centre shall consist of a Director General and other employees of the centre appointed under this act.

Director General

14. --(1) The centre shall appoint a Director General who shall--

(a) be-

(i) the chief executive officer of the centre;

(ii) subject to the general and special directions of the centre; and

(iii) responsible for the day-to-day operations of the centre; and

(b) hold office for a term of five years and shall be eligible for re-appointment for a further term of five years.

(2) The Director General shall be appointed through a competitive process and on such terms and conditions as the centre shall determine, after consulting the Government department responsible for human resource management and development.

(3) A person shall not be appointed as Director General, unless the person-

(a) possesses a minimum qualification of a Master's degree in a relevant field from a reputable

education institution accredited or recognized under the national council for higher education act (cap 30:12);

(b) has proven and demonstrable expertise in investment and export promotion matters or any field relevant to the functions and responsibilities of the centre;

(c) has not less than ten years' experience in executive management; and

(d) does not hold a political office.

(4) Subject to the general and special directions of the centre, the Director General shall be responsible for—

(a) the day-to-day administration and management of the affairs of the centre;

(b) the effective management of the funds, property and business of the centre;

(c) the administration, organization and control of the other employees of the centre;

(d) the effective administration of this act; and

(e) the performance of any other duties and functions as may be assigned to him or her by the centre.

(5) The centre may terminate the appointment of the Director General if he or she-

(a) is guilty of a misconduct that brings the office of the Director General or the centre into disrepute;

(b) is physically or mentally incapacitated so that he or she is not able to discharge his or her duties;

(c) is incompetent in the execution of his or her duties;

(d) is declared or adjudged bankrupt;

(e) is convicted of an offence and sentenced to a term of imprisonment without the option of a fine; or (f) fails to declare a conflict of interest in a matter under consideration by his or her office or the the centre.

Other Employees

15. —(1) The centre shall appoint, on such terms and conditions as it may determine, after consulting with the Government department responsible for human resources management and development, such other employees of the centre, subordinate to the Director General, as it considers necessary for the performance of its functions.

(2) The centre may, by directions in writing, delegate to the Director General the appointment, discipline and dismissal of other employees of centre in specified iunior ranks and the Director General shall

report to the centre, at its next meeting, every appointment, disciplinary decision and dismissal made pursuant to this subsection.

(3) Section 14 (5) shall apply, with the necessary modifications, to the removal from office of other employees of the centre, appointed under this section.

Part IV—One Stop Service shop

One-stop Service Shop

16. —(1) The centre shall establish, within the centre, a One- stop service shop, which shall be responsible for—

(a) facilitating investments in Malawi; and

(b) promoting exports from Malawi.

(2) A controlling officer of a Government ministry, department or public body shall, on written request of the centre, deploy to the One-stop service shop a relevant officer employed in the ministry, department or public body, as the case may be, to provide services specified in the request.

(3) The centre may, after consulting with the Government department responsible for human resource management and development, adopt an organization structure and conditions of service for officers deployed to the One-stop service shop from the public service.

Part V—National Incentives Committee

National Incentives Committee

17. —(1) There shall be a committee to be known as the national Incentives committee which shall consist of—

(a) the secretary responsible for trade, who shall be the chairperson of the committee;

(b) the secretary to the treasury;

(c) the commissioner General of the Malawi revenue authority; and

(d) the chief executive Officer of the Malawi confederation of chambers of commerce and Industry.

(2) The Director General shall serve as the secretary of the national Incentives committee.

(3) The National Incentives committee shall review applications for grant of investment and export incentives and make recommendations to the Minister responsible for finance.

Procedure and Reporting of National Incentives Committee

18. The national Incentives committee shall-

(a) regulate its own procedure; and

(b) submit quarterly progress reports to the Minister who shall present the reports to cabinet.

Part VI—Financial Provisions

Funds and Property of the Centre

19. -(1) The funds and property of the centre shall consist of-

(a) such sums as shall be appropriated annually by Parliament for the purposes of the centre;

(b) the levy payable under section 20;

(c) fees as may be charged by the centre in respect of certificates, consultancy services, programmes, seminars, publications and other services the centre may render;

(d) income as it may receive from development charges, lease of land, rentals or sale of buildings;

(e) such sums of money and other property as may be received, acquired, purchased or transferred to the centre, whether by way of donation, devise, bequest, purchase or otherwise; and

(f) such other sums and assets as may vest in, or accrue to, the centre, whether in the course of discharging its functions or otherwise.

(2) The centre shall use the funds acquired under subsection (1) to meet expenses incurred in connection with its operations and functions under this act.

(3) The centre shall, at all times, comply with the provisions of the Public audit act, the Public Finance Management act and the Public Procurement and Disposal of Public assets act.

Levy

20. —(1) The Minister may, acting on the advice of the centre, and after consulting the Minister responsible for finance, by order published in the Gazette, prescribe a levy on investments, imports, exports or other types of levies to be paid to the centre by a particular industry in Malawi.

(2) An order made under this section may prescribe a penalty for non-payment or delayed payment of a levy.

(3) The levy and penalty payable under this section shall, if not paid, constitute a debt owing to the centre and shall be recoverable by the centre by way of civil proceeding.

Accounting and Audit

21. —(1) The centre shall cause to be kept all proper books and records of accounts of the income, expenditure and assets of the centre in accordance with the Public Finance Management act (no. 4 of

2022).

(2) The accounts of the centre shall be audited at the end of each financial year in accordance with the Public audit act (cap.37:01).

(3) The financial year of the centre shall be a period of twelve months commencing on 1st April each year and ending on 31st March of the following year.

(4) The first financial year of the centre may be such shorter or longer period than twelve months as the centre shall determine but being not less than six months not more than eighteen months.

Part VII—Investment Certificate

Investment Certificates

22. —(1) A domestic investor who intends to invest in a business enterprise may, subject to subsection (3), obtain an investment certificate under this act.

(2) A foreign investor shall not invest in Malawi unless the investor holds an investment certificate issued under this act.

(3) The Minister may, on recommendation of the centre and by notice published in the Gazette,

prescribe the minimum thresholds and sectors for issuance of domestic investment certificates.

Application for, and Issuance of, Investment Certificates

23. —(1) An application for an investment certificate shall be made to the centre in the prescribed form and shall be accompanied by the prescribed fee.

(2) The centre may, in processing an application under subsection (1), require the applicant to provide such further information as may be necessary for the determination of the application.

(3) The centre shall, within twenty-one working days from the date a complete application is lodged, approve or reject the application and notify the applicant of its decision in writing within five days of the decision.

(4) Where the centre—

(a) approves, the application, the centre shall issue to the successful applicant, an investment certificate in the prescribed form; or

(b) rejects the application, the centre shall give to the applicant reasons for the rejection in writing.

(5) An investment certificate issued under subsection (4) (a) to an investor shall-

(a) in the case of a domestic investor, be valid for five years; and

(b) in the case of a foreign investor, be valid for three years.

Criteria for Issuance of Investment Certificates

24. The centre shall, in considering an application for an investment certificate, have regard to-

(a) the need to promote economic development and inclusive growth in Malawi;

(b) the extent to which the proposed investment will create employment opportunities and contribute to the development of human resources;

(c) the extent to which the investment will contribute to improvement of quality of life of Malawians, especially vulnerable groups;

(d) the degree to which the investment is export oriented or biased toward import substitution;

(e) the extent to which the investment will contribute to technology transfer; and

(f) any other considerations as the centre may consider appropriate.

Renewal of Investment Certificates

25. —(1) A holder of an investment certificate may, before the expiry of the certificate, apply for renewal of the certificate.

(2) An application for renewal of an investment certificate shall be-

(a) made to the centre in such form and manner and within such timeframe as may be prescribed; and

(b) accompanied by the prescribed fee.

(3) Sections 23 and 24 shall apply, with the necessary modifications, to an application for renewal of an investment certificate.

(4) The centre may renew an investment certificate for the period prescribed under section 23 (5) or such shorter period as the centre may determine appropriate.

Transfer of Investment Certificate

26. The holder of an investment certificate shall not assign, cede or otherwise transfer the certificate to another person, without the prior written approval of the centre.

Revocation of Investment Certificate

27. --(1) Where the centre is satisfied that a holder of an investment certificate--

(a) fraudulently obtained the certificate or provided false or misleading information in the application for the certificate;

(b) is acting or has acted in breach of any term or condition of the investment certificate;

(c) has assigned, ceded or otherwise transferred the certificate to another person without prior written approval of the centre;

(d) has without prior written approval of the control invested in a husiness enterprise other than the one

(u) nas, without prior written approval of the centre, invested in a pusitiess enterprise other than the one stipulated in the certificate;

(e) has acted in contravention of this act or any other relevant written law; or

(f) has acted in such a manner as to tarnish the reputation of Malawi as an attractive destination for investment or a source of exports, the centre may, having regard to all the circumstances of the case and by notice in writing to the holder of the certificate, suspend or revoke the certificate or any incentive to which the holder of the certificate is entitled under this act.

(2) The centre shall, before exercising the power in subsection (1), by notice in writing, require the holder of the certificate to, within thirty days of the date of service of the notice, show cause why the investment certificate or any specified incentive should not be suspended or revoked.

(3) The centre shall, in exercising its power under subsection (1), take into consideration the submission made under subsection (2) by the holder of the certificate.

(4) Where the centre decides to revoke the certificate, the centre shall notify the holder of the certificate in writing and shall, in the notice, require the holder of the certificate to surrender the revoked certificate to the centre within a period specified in the notice.

(5) A holder of an investment certificate which is revoked under subsection (4) who, without valid excuse, fails to surrender the revoked certificate to the centre within the period specified in the notice commits an offence.

Notification of Abandonment of an Investment Certificate

28. —Where a holder of an investment certificate—

(a) decides not to invest in the business enterprise specified in the certificate; or

(b) having started to invest in the business enterprise decides to abandon the investment, the holder of the certificate shall notify the abandonment of the investment to the centre in writing, within thirty days of the decision, stating the reasons for abandoning the investment.

Part VIII—Exporter registration Certificate

Exporter Registration Certificate

29. —(1) subject to subsection (2), a person shall not export goods from Malawi, unless the person has an exporter registration certificate issued by the centre under this act.

(2) The Minister may, on the recommendation of the centre and by notice published in the Gazette, prescribe the category of goods that shall not be exported from Malawi without an exporter registration certificate.

(3) An application for an exporter registration certificate shall be-

(a) in a prescribed form; and

(b) accompanied by the prescribed fee.

(4) The centre may, in processing an application for an exporter registration certificate, require the applicant to provide such further information as may be necessary for the determination of the application.

(5) The centre may, within five working days from the date the application is lodged, approve or reject the application and notify the applicant of its decision in writing within twenty-four hours of the decision.
(6) Where the centre—

(a) approves the application, the centre shall—

(i) issue to the applicant an exporter registration certificate in the prescribed form; and

(ii) give notification of the issuance of the certificate in writing to the Governor of the reserve Bank of Malawi and commissioner General of the Malawi revenue authority.

(b) rejects the application, the centre shall give to the applicant reasons for the rejection in writing.

(7) A holder of an exporter registration certificate shall, upon production of the certificate to the reserve Bank of Malawi or other relevant public body and subject to the provisions of this act, be granted export incentives, facilities and other benefits prescribed under this act.

(8) An exporter registration certificate shall be valid for twelve months from the date of issuance.

(9) A holder of an exporter registration certificate shall not assign, cede or otherwise transfer the

certificate to any other person without the prior written approval of the centre.

Renewal of Exporter Registration Certificate

30. —(1) A holder of an exporter registration certificate may, apply for renewal of the certificate, before its expiry.

(2) An application for renewal of an exporter registration certificate shall be-

(a) made to the centre in such form and manner and within such timeframe as may be prescribed; and

(b) accompanied by the prescribed fee.

(3) Section 29 (4), (5), (6), (7) and (8) shall apply to an application for renewal, and grant, of an exporter registration certificate.

Suspension or Revocation of Exporter Registration Certificate

31. --(1)Where the centre is satisfied that a holder of an exporter registration certificate---

(a) fraudulently obtained the certificate or provided false or misleading information in the application for the certificate;

(b) is acting or has acted in breach of any term or condition of the certificate;

(c) has assigned, ceded or otherwise transferred the certificate to another person without prior written approval of the centre;

(d) the holder of the certificate fails to export the product specified in the certificate in accordance with the terms and conditions specified in the certificate;

(e) has acted in contravention of this act or any other relevant written law; or

(f) has acted in such a manner as to tarnish the reputation of Malawi as a source of exports, the centre may, having regard to all the circumstances of the case and by notice in writing to the holder of the certificate, suspend or revoke the certificate or withdraw any incentive to which the holder of the certificate is entitled under this act.

(2) The centre shall, before exercising the power in subsection (1), by notice in writing, require the holder of the exporter registration certificate to, within thirty days of the date of service of the notice, show cause why the certificate or a specified incentive should not be suspended or withdrawn.

(3) The centre shall, in exercising its power under subsection (1), take into consideration the submission made under subsection (2) by the holder of the certificate.

(4) Where the centre decides to revoke the certificate, the centre shall notify the holder of the certificate in writing and shall, in the notice, require the holder of the certificate to surrender the revoked certificate to the centre within a period specified in the notice.

(5) A holder of a certificate which is revoked under subsection (4) who, without valid excuse, fails to surrender the revoked certificate within the period specified in the notice to the centre commits an offence.

Part IX—Incentives

Fiscal Incentives

32. —(1) the Minister responsible for finance may, by order published in the Gazette, prescribe fiscal investment and export incentives.

(2) The Minister responsible for finance shall, on application, grant an incentive prescribed under subsection (1) to a holder of an investment certificate or exporter registration certificate, as the case may require.

(3) The Minister responsible for finance shall, in considering an application for grant of a fiscal incentive to an investor or exporter, take into account the recommendations of the national Incentives committee. **Income Tax Allowance**

33. the Minister responsible for finance may, by order published in the Gazette, prescribe income tax allowances for holders of exporter registration certificates.

Duty Drawback

34. -(1) a holder of an exporter registration certificate who exports a product from Malawi which is-(a) manufactured or otherwise produced in Malawi: and

(b) manufactured, processed or produced using raw materials, including packaging materials, on which duty is paid,

shall be entitled to drawback of duty in accordance with the customs and excise act (cap 42:01).

(2) The commissioner General of the Malawi revenue authority shall effect a duty drawback under subsection (1), within the period prescribed by the Minister responsible for Finance.

(3) The commissioner General shall effect a duty drawback upon being satisfied that—

(a) the holder of an exporter registration certificate exported the product in question; and

(b) the exporter paid the duty claimed.

Part X—Services

Strategic Areas for Investment and Exports

35. -(1) For purposes of this act, the Minister may, on recommendation of the centre and by notice published in the Gazette, prescribe-

(a) strategic areas of investment and export; and

(b) the sectors that shall require mandatory joint ventures between foreign investors and domestic investors and the conditions for such ventures.

(2) The centre shall accord priority to promotion of investment and export in strategic areas prescribed under subsection (1).

One-stop Service for Relevant Permits, Licences, etc

36. -(1) a holder of an investment certificate or an exporter registration certificate may submit to the relevant authority an application for a licence, certificate, permit or other authorization required for the investment or export through the centre.

(2) Mhara an amiliaatian far a aartificata licanaa narmit ar athar authorizatian is authorited to the

(2) where an application for a certificate, licence, permit or other authorization is submitted to the centre under subsection (1), the centre shall act as a one-stop service centre and expeditiously process the application on behalf of the investor or exporter.

Land for Investment

37. —(1) Where a holder of an investment certificate requires land for his or her investment, the centre shall assist the holder of the certificate in —

(a) identifying suitable land for the investment; and

(b) acquisition of the identified land, in accordance with the applicable law.

Immigration

38. —(1) Where a holder of an investment certificate requires a business resident permit or the services of an expatriate employee, the holder of the certificate shall submit the application for the business resident permit or work permit for the expatriate employee to the Department of Immigration through the centre.

(2) Subject to the provisions of the Immigration act, the Department of Immigration shall, on receipt of an application for a resident permit or work permit under subsection (1), issue the resident permit or work permit within thirty days from the date of receipt of the application.

Utilities And Other Services and Facilities

39. The centre shall, where necessary, assist a holder of an investment certificate in processing connectivity to water, electricity, communication and other services and facilities required for the investment.

Part XI—Appeals

Appeals

40. —(1) A person aggrieved by a decision of the centre under this act may, within thirty days from the date the decision is communicated to him or her appeal to the Minister, in writing, for review of the decision.

(2) Upon receipt of an appeal under subsection (1), the Minister shall appoint an adhoc appeals panel consisting of three members one of whom shall be appointed chairperson of the panel.

(3) A person shall be appointed a member of an appeals panel if the person is duly qualified and experienced in law, finance, economics, investment, business or any other relevant field.

(4) The appeals panel shall expeditiously inquire into the matter and receive evidence from the appellant and any other person as the panel shall determine appropriate and submit its recommendations to the Minister.

(5) The appeals panel may make any of the following recommendations to the Minister-

(a) confirming, varying or setting aside the decision of the centre; and

(b) reconsideration of the decision by the centre in accordance with any directions, as the panel may recommend.

(6) The Minister shall, within seven days of receipt of the recommendations of an appeals panel, communicate his or her decision to the appellant.

Procedure and Expenses of Appeals Panels

41. —(1) The Minister may prescribe procedure for the conduct of appeals lodged under section 40.

(2) Members of an appeals panel shall be paid such allowances and expenses as may be determined by the Minister.

(3) The appellant shall pay the costs and expenses of an appeals panel in the event that his or her appeal has not been successful, otherwise the costs and expenses shall be paid out of the funds of the centre.

Part XII—Miscellaneous

Non-application of the Act to Certain Products, etc.

42. The Minister may, by order published in the Gazette, exempt application of all or any of the provisions of this act to—

(a) any product specified in the order, either by reference to the name, use, nature, class or description of the product; or

(b) any holder of an investment or export registration certificate or a particular class of holders of investment or export registration certificates.

Register of Licences, Permits, Certificates, etc.

43. The centre shall maintain or cause to be maintained in the prescribed form a register of certificates issued under this act.

Records to be Kept

44. —(1) A holder of an investment certificate or exporter registration certificate shall keep and maintain at his or her registered office, in a form and manner conforming to generally accepted practices and standards—

(a) a register into which shall be entered his or her assets and liabilities; and

(b) books of accounts, invoices, customs permits and other documents connected to the investment or export certificate.

(2) The holder of a licence under this act shall, at such intervals as may be prescribed or on written request, furnish to the centre any document or record referred to under subsection (1) in a manner or format as may be prescribed or specified in the request.

(3) The records maintained under subsection (1), shall be kept for a period of six years.

(4) A holder of a certificate under this act shall, on demand by an authorized officer of the centre,

produce for inspection the books, records, documents and other information referred to in subsection (1) and shall allow the officer to make copies or take extracts from the documents.

(5) The centre shall treat information obtained pursuant to this section as confidential.

(6) A person who contravenes this section commits an offence and shall, upon conviction, be liable to a fine of k30,000,000 or to imprisonment for three years.

Amendment of Certificate, Permit, etc.

45. The centre may, at the request of the holder of a certificate or permit issued under this act, amend the certificate or permit, as the case may be, subject to any restrictions as the centre may prescribed.

Annual Reports

46. —The centre shall, within three months after the end of each financial year, prepare and submit to the Minister a report of its activities during the preceding year and the Minister shall lay the report before the national assembly at its next sitting.

Common Seal

47. —(1) The common seal of the centre shall be kept by the Director General and shall not be used, except in the manner authorized.

(2) All deeds, instruments, contracts and other documents shall be considered to be duly executed by or on behalf of the centre-

(a) where they are required to be under seal, if sealed with the common seal and authenticated by the chairperson or any other member nominated in that behalf by the centre and the Director General or any other officer authorized by the centre; or

(b) where they are not required to be under seal, if executed in that behalf by a member authorized by the centre for that purpose.

(3) A deed, instrument, contract or any other document executed in accordance with subsection (2) shall, in law, bind the centre, its assignees and its successors and may be varied or discharged in the same manner that it was executed.

(4) All courts and other persons acting in a judicial capacity shall take judicial notice of the common seal of the centre affixed to any document and shall presume, unless otherwise proven, that it was duly affixed.

Oath of Secrecy

48. Every member of the centre, member of a committee of the centre, employee of the centre, consultant, advisor or subcontractor of the centre shall, upon being appointed to, or on being engaged by the centre, as the case may be, take the oath of secrecy prescribed in the Schedule.

Confidentiality

49. —(1) A member of the centre, member of a committee of the centre, employee of the centre, or consultant, advisor or contractor of the centre shall not publish or disclose to any person, other than in the course of duty, the contents of any document, communication or information which come to him or her in the course of his or her duty under this act.

(2) A member of the centre, member of a committee of the centre, employee of the centre, or consultant, advisor or subcontractor of the centre who holds confidential information, or any person who, directly or indirectly, obtains such information from the member, employee, consultant, advisor or subcontractor and knows or has reasonable cause to believe that the member, employee, consultant, advisor or subcontractor obtained the information in the course of duty and-

(a) deals in any contract or proposed contract to which the information relates and in which the centre is involved;

(b) counsels or instigates any other person to deal in any contract referred to in paragraph (a); or

(c) communicates to any other person the information so held or so obtained, knowing or having reasonable cause to believe that the other person to whom the information is communicated may use the information for the purpose of dealing in, or counselling or causing another person to deal in any contract referred to in paragraph (a),

commits an offence and shall, upon conviction, be liable to a fine of k30,000,000 and to imprisonment for three years.

(3) This section shall not apply where the information disclosed by the member of the centre, member of a committee of the centre, employee of the centre, or consultant, advisor, subcontractor or other norean has been published by the centre prior to the disclosure

ארוסטון וומס אבבון אמאווסוובע אין גווב כבווגוב אווטר גט גווב עוסטוסטרב.

(4) This section shall continue to apply to a member of the centre, member of a committee of the centre, employee of the centre, or consultant, advisor or subcontractor, notwithstanding the expiry or termination of the term of office of the member or employment of the employee, consultant, advisor or subcontractor, as the case may be.

Protection from Personal Liability

50. No action or proceeding shall be brought personally against any member of the centre, committee of the centre or employee of the centre in respect of any act or omission done in good faith in the course of carrying out the provisions of this act.

General Penalty

51. A person who commits an offence under this act for which a penalty has not been provided shall, upon conviction, be liable to a fine of k30,000,000 and to imprisonment for three years.

Regulations, Rules, etc.

52. —(1) The Minister may, on recommendation of the centre, make regulations for the carrying into effect of the provisions of this act.

(2) Without prejudice to the generality of subsection (1), the regulations may provide for

(a) the forms, certificates, fees payable and the procedure for applications to be made under this act;

(b) the information and documents to be submitted in support of applications to be made under this act;

(c) the manner and form of lodging appeals against decisions of the centre; and

(d) generally the carrying into effect of the purposes of this act.

(2) notwithstanding section 21(e) of the General Interpretation act, the regulations made under this act may create offences the contravention of which may attract a penalty of a fine of k5,000,000 and to imprisonment for twelve months.

(3) the commission may issue rules, guidelines and notices for purposes of providing guidance or directions, as the case may be, for better carrying into effect the provisions of this act.

Repeal and Savings

53. —(1) The Investment Promotion act, export Promotion council act and export Incentives act are repealed (cap 39:05, cap 39:03, cap 39:04).

(2) Any subsidiary legislation made under the acts repealed under subsection (1), in force immediately before the commencement of this act—

(a) shall remain in force, unless in conflict with this act, and be deemed to be subsidiary legislation made under this act; and

(b) may be replaced, amended or repealed by subsidiary legislation made under this act.

Cessation of Malawi Investment and Trade Centre Limited and Transfer of Rights and Obligations 54. —(1) On the commencement of this act—

(a) the Malawi Investment and trade centre Limited, a company incorporated under the companies act on 2nd December, 2010 (hereinafter referred to as the "company") shall cease to exist;

(b) any person who, immediately prior to the commencement of this act, is employed by the company shall be deemed to have been employed by the centre and shall continue to serve on the same terms and conditions of service and, for purposes of determining his or her rights and obligations, his or her service shall be regarded as continuous from the date he or she was appointed by the company; and (c) all assets, liabilities, obligations, agreements and arrangements existing immediately prior to the commencement of this act, and vested in, acquired, incurred or entered into by the company shall, be deemed to have vested in, or to have been acquired, incurred or entered into, by or against the centre, and shall be enforceable by or against the centre to the same extent as they were enforceable by or against the company.

(2) where the transfer of any property under subsection (1) (c) is required, by any written law, to be registered, the centre shall, within one year from the commencement of this act, or within such other period as the written law may prescribe, apply to the appropriate registering authority for the registration of the transfer and thereupon the registering authority shall, at no cost to the centre or any person by way of registration fees, stamp or other duties—

(a) make such entries in the appropriate register as shall give effect to the transfer and, where appropriate, issue to the centre a certificate of title or other statutory evidence of ownership of the property or make such amendments on such certificates or in the appropriate register as may be necessary; and

(b) make any necessary endorsement on such deeds or other documents as may be presented on such registering authority relating to the title, right or obligation concerned.

Schedule (s.48)

Oath OF secrecy

I,....., being a member/ employee/ consultant/

advisor/ subcontractor of the centre, do hereby swear/affirm that I will freely without fear or favour, affection or ill will, discharge the functions of a member/employee/ consultant/ advisor/ subcontractor of